# A General Guide to Pennsylvania's Education for Children and Youth Experiencing Homelessness (ECYEH) Program







#### Commonwealth of Pennsylvania

Tom Wolf, Governor

#### **Department of Education**

Pedro A. Rivera, Secretary

#### Office of Elementary and Secondary Education

Matthew Stem, Deputy Secretary

## Bureau of Curriculum, Assessment, and Instruction

Vacant

#### **Division of Student Services**

Carmen M. Medina, Chief

The Pennsylvania Department of Education (PDE) does not discriminate in its educational programs, activities, or employment practices, based on race, color, national origin, sex, sexual orientation, disability, age, religion, ancestry, union membership, or any other legally protected category. Announcement of this policy is in accordance with State Law including the Pennsylvania Human Relations Act and with Federal law, including Title VI and Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967, and the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990.

The following persons have been designated to handle inquiries regarding the Pennsylvania Department of Education's nondiscrimination policies:

#### For Inquiries Concerning Nondiscrimination in Employment:

Pennsylvania Department of Education Equal Employment Opportunity Representative Bureau of Human Resources 333 Market Street, 11th Floor Harrisburg, PA 17126-0333 Voice Telephone: (717) 787-4417

Fax: (717) 783-9348

Text Telephone TTY: (717) 783-8445

# For Inquiries Concerning Nondiscrimination in All Other Pennsylvania Department of Education Programs and Activities:

Pennsylvania Department of Education School Services Unit Director 333 Market Street, 5th Floor Harrisburg, PA 17126-0333 Voice Telephone: (717) 783-3750

Fax: (717) 783-6802

Text Telephone TTY: (717) 783-8445

If you have any questions about this publication or for additional copies, contact:

Pennsylvania Department of Education

Bureau of Curriculum, Assessment, and Instruction

333 Market Street, 5th Floor

Harrisburg, PA 17126-0333

Voice: (717) 346-3186

Fax: (717) 783-4392

TTY: (717) 783-8445

www.education.pa.gov

All Media Requests/Inquiries: Contact the Office of Press & Communications at (717) 783-9802

# **Table of Contents**

Introduction	5
A Definition of Homelessness	5
School District Homeless Liaison	5
McKinney-Vento Eligibility and Identification	5
Immediate Enrollment	6
School Choice/School of Origin	6
Transportation	6
Supporting Opportunities for School Success	6
Effects of Homelessness on Educational and Social Development	7
Protective Factors That Help Students Experiencing Homelessness	7
The Importance of Coordination and Collaboration	8
Dispute Resolution Process	8
National, State, Regional and Local Resources	9
Acknowledgements	10

#### Introduction

The Education for Children and Youth Experiencing Homelessness (ECYEH) Program was authorized by Title VII, Subtitle B of the Stewart B. McKinney Homeless Assistance Act of 1987, and more recently under the 2001 No Child Left Behind Act. This was the first comprehensive federal law dealing with the problem of homelessness in America. Per the McKinney-Vento Act (for full text, go to this United States Department of Education website at (www2.ed.gov/policy/elsec/leg/esea02/pg116.html), Pennsylvania's primary goal for its ECYEH Program is to educate local education agencies (LEA) and other entities who work with children, youth and families, on the rights of children and youth experiencing homelessness. They should also work collaboratively to eliminate barriers that may impede enrollment, attendance, or receipt of services that support academic success - including special student populations such as preschool-aged children experiencing homelessness, unaccompanied youth and out-of-school youth. The ECYEH Program provides support for activities or services that enable these children and youth to enroll, attend and succeed in school.

The program is authorized to provide funds through the Pennsylvania Department of Education (PDE) to coordinate the enrollment and delivery of services for the educational success of children and youth experiencing homelessness. This booklet is a brief overview of some important issues surrounding child homelessness – such as who they are, how they are affected by homelessness and their available educational choices and federal rights. The booklet should raise awareness regarding students experiencing homelessness.

#### A Definition of Homelessness

A family or student is considered homeless under the McKinney-Vento definition if they are in any of these places or situations:

- · Public or private shelters
- Public or private places not designated for, or ordinarily used as, regular sleeping accommodations such as vehicles, parks, motels, campgrounds, etc.
- Living with a parent in a domestic violence shelter
- Living with relatives or friends due to lack of housing
- · Living in transitional housing programs
- Runaway children (under 18 years of age) and children and youth who have been abandoned

- or forced out of their home by parents or other caretakers (unaccompanied youth). These children may be in temporary shelters awaiting assistance from social service agencies, or may live alone on the street or move from place to place among family members, friends or acquaintances
- Children of migrant families who lack adequate housing
- Children abandoned in hospitals or awaiting foster care\*
- \* Youth awaiting foster care placement include those who are placed in: emergency, interim or respite foster care; kinship care; evaluation or diagnostic centers; or placements for the sole purpose of evaluation. On a case-by-case basis, through coordination between the school and all involved agencies, it can be determined if the youth is "awaiting foster care placement."

#### **School District Homeless Liaison**

Per the federal law, every school district must assign a person (a liaison) to ensure that students experiencing homelessness are identified, enrolled and able to succeed in school. The liaison is responsible for identification of McKinney-Vento eligible students and supporting the needs of these students. The liaison:

- Assesses McKinney-Vento eligibility and needs of students and families experiencing homelessness
- Interprets laws relating to student homelessness
- Works as a team member to remove educational barriers
- · Provides case management
- · Monitors student progress
- Makes referrals to facilitate appropriate services to ensure full attendance and access to an appropriate education

The liaison also acts as a resource to school staff to inform, facilitate and support appropriate services.

# McKinney-Vento Eligibility and Identification

The McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance Act defines "homeless children and youths" as "individuals who lack a fixed, regular and adequate nighttime residence." However, because the circumstances of homelessness vary with each family's or unaccompanied youth's situation, determining the extent to which the family or youth

fits the definition must be applied on a case-bycase basis. The liaison must gather and analyze information from the family or youth and make an appropriate determination of eligibility. Expeditious determination of eligibility and immediate school enrollment are critical to the child's educational continuity and future success.

Children and youth experiencing homelessness are difficult to identify for many reasons and often go unnoticed by school personnel. Students and parents may try to hide their situation because they are embarrassed by their homelessness. In addition, the fear of having children taken away often prevents families from revealing their living circumstances to school officials. Unaccompanied youth may not report their homeless status for fear of being returned to unsafe family environments. Homeless children and youth who are not enrolled in school and are living in places other than shelters, such as doubled-up with another family or in a lowcost motel, are even more invisible to schools and their communities.

#### **Immediate Enrollment**

It is important to remember that the McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance Act requires the immediate enrollment of children and youth experiencing homelessness, even in the absence of records, normally required for enrollment. School districts' enrollment policies and practices must ensure that no barriers exist for these students/families. Denying immediate enrollment to a student experiencing homelessness violates federal law and may place the student in danger in certain circumstances.

# **School Choice/School of Origin**

According to federal law (see center.serve.org/nche/legis/mv.php), the local education agency serving each child or youth to be assisted under this subtitle shall, according to the child's or youth's best interest:

- "(i) continue the child's or youth's education in the school of origin for the duration of homelessness—
  - (I) in any case in which a family becomes homeless between academic years or during an academic year;
  - (II) for the remainder of the academic year, if the child or youth becomes permanently housed during an academic year; or

(ii) enroll the child or youth in any public school that nonhomeless students who live in the attendance area in which the child or youth is actually living are eligible to attend."

The federal law defines "School of Origin" as the school the child or youth attended when permanently housed or the school in which the child or youth was last enrolled. The choice regarding placement shall be made regardless of whether the child or youth lives with the homeless parent(s) or has been temporarily placed elsewhere. These families or youth are presently unable to establish "homes" on a permanent basis.

## **Transportation**

To counteract the educational disruption caused by students' mobility, the McKinney-Vento Act provides these students with the right to continue attending the school of origin, or enroll in any public school that nonhomeless students who live in the same attendance area are eligible to attend, according to the student's best interest. When determining a student's best interest, the following factors should be considered:

- The age of the child or youth
- The distance of a commute and the impact it may have on the student's education
- Personal safety issues
- A student's need for special instruction (e.g., special education and related services)
- The length of anticipated stay in a temporary shelter or other temporary location
- · The time remaining in the school year

It is important to also consider the wishes of the parent/guardian and the student. Parents and youth should be informed of their school of origin rights and the available transportation services or other transportation options. The liaison can help set up transportation through coordination within the district and between other school districts.

## Supporting Opportunities for School Success

In general, children who are homeless do not perform as well in school, have lower achievement scores, and more academic failure than housed students. These children need the stability of school and rely on academic support provided to them. These students often change schools frequently.

This can impact learning as students must adjust to new environments, new curricula, and new teachers and classmates, while still learning the same information other students are expected to master. The loss of a home can be traumatic, leaving children and youth with tumultuous feelings that can impact their social and intellectual well-being. Limited access to food, medical care and basic school supplies can also impact performance in the classroom.

The following strategies and programs can support students' academic success:

- Access to Head Start and preschool programs administered by the local education agency or within the community
- Academic support such as tutoring, afterschool programs and summer programs
- Referrals to health care services, dental services, mental health services, and other appropriate services

According to federal law and PDE policy (see www.education.pa.gov/homeless), for enrollment of students:

- Educational agencies shall ensure that each homeless child has equal access to the same free, appropriate public education, including a public preschool education, as provided to other children and youth. Homeless students may reside in shelters, hotels, motels, cars, tents or be temporarily doubled-up with a resident family because of lack of housing. Homeless children and youth lack a fixed, regular, and adequate nighttime residence. Included within the definition of homeless children and youth are those who are "awaiting foster care placement" and "unaccompanied homeless youth."
- Unaccompanied homeless youth may enroll
  without documents and without the help of an
  adult. Unaccompanied homeless youth includes
  any child who is "not in the physical custody of a
  parent or guardian." Falling within this definition
  are students who have run away from home, been
  thrown out of their home, or been abandoned or
  separated from their parent(s) or guardian(s).
- Homeless youth are entitled to immediate enrollment and their families are not required to prove residency regarding school enrollment.
   These students should be enrolled without delay, in the district where they are presently residing, or continue their education in the district of prior attendance.

# Effects of Homelessness on Educational and Social Development

Most notably, homelessness causes a disruption in a child's education. The transfer and enrollment process may occur multiple times in one school year. The impact of family mobility upon education is disruption and is the greatest barrier to school success. Changing schools means adapting to new teachers, schedules, friends and accompanying details. Performance may slip until the child adapts to new settings. The attention of the child's caretaker may center on food, clothing, shelter and safety to the exclusion of education. This may add to the disruption of the child's education. Like any other child experiencing disruption in their life, children experiencing homelessness need support, help with adjusting to new teaching styles, assignments and some basic things like fees for class trips, etc.

These children may need an advocate in school. It is important for these children to have positive connections with their families, guardians, or other caring adults in their lives. They need programs and services that will nurture and reinforce their resiliency.

## Protective Factors That Help Students Experiencing Homelessness

Research studies show that when schools are places where students routinely receive respect and support, the students' motivation to learn is improved. To counter the many risk factors in the lives of homeless children, schools need to enhance protective factors that promote positive behavior, health, well-being and personal success. A child's resilience is fostered by building enough protective factors to offset the impact of a stressful life. Protective factors are grouped into three categories: caring and supportive relationships; positive and high expectations; and opportunities for meaningful participation in school activities.

Schools can promote protective factors by helping children and their families link with programs and activities that offer opportunities to strengthen existing relationships and create new ones. Schoolbased parenting and enrichment workshops can help parents build stronger bonds with their children and the school community. The students

should have clear standards for attendance, behavior and satisfactory performance. These expectations can serve as a positive structure to the student of a mobile family or unaccompanied youth.

When schools provide caring relationships, maintain high expectations, and provide opportunities for participation in school activities, they can serve as a "protective shield" for students. The skills learned and the recognition received in these activities are keys for growth and a sense of well-being.

# The Importance of Coordination and Collaboration

Addressing the unique needs of students experiencing homelessness requires a coordinated and collaborative approach through which the student, the parent, the school, social service agencies and the public are aware and supportive of these families and their children. Local community agencies, service organizations, and public/private agencies on the local, county and regional levels can partner with and support LEAs in meeting the needs of students experiencing homelessness. The following are ways in which coordination and collaboration can be facilitated. Contact your regional/site coordinator for additional information about how you can help.

**School administrators** can help the school board and local community to become more sensitive to the condition of homelessness.

**Principals** can introduce the family and child to teachers, counselors and other staff, and give a tour of the school – this sets the tone for further parent involvement in the school.

School secretaries and enrollment staff can assist parents in filling out registration forms, with awareness that some parents may lack literacy skills.

**Teachers** can discretely make accommodations for required homework, arrange tutoring, or provide or arrange for needed school supplies.

**School nurses** can contact the student's previous school to obtain immunization records and health records, or receive verification by phone.

Counselors, social workers, home and school visitors and school psychologists can help know the local community resources to make referrals

for families in areas like housing, food, clothing and counseling; as well as making standard forms and information available about key school programs at each shelter. This includes materials on the school calendar, lunch and breakfast programs, and admission/withdrawal.

Schools' transportation staff can arrange for children to be able to attend the school of origin if in the student's best interest, arrange bus stops to pick up students at the shelter first and drop them off last to ease the embarrassment of living at the shelter.

**Shelter personnel** can be aware of school activities and schedules and help families and students fully participate in school functions.

Everyone involved with the student should observe warning signs for possible homelessness:

- A lack of educational continuity (many school moves)
- · School attendance and transportation problems
- Poor health and nutrition
- · Poor hygiene
- Lack of privacy and personal space after school
- · Social and behavioral concerns
- Reactions or statements by the parent, guardian, child or youth

## **Dispute Resolution Process**

PDE must ensure that LEAs comply with requirements set forth in the McKinney-Vento Act including ensuring immediate enrollment, providing written notice to families concerning school selection, enrollment decisions and providing enrollment and pendency in the school of choice while a dispute is being resolved. PDE has developed procedures for the resolution of disputes regarding enrollment, school selection, homeless status and complaints of non-compliance with legal requirements pertaining to the education for homeless children and youths (for further information, visit

www.education.pa.gov/homeless to see the Education for Homeless Youth Basic Education Circular, 42 U.S. §11432(g)(2)(A)), under Basic Education Circulars on the home page).

There are two dispute levels:

Level 1 – A dispute raised with an LEA, where a parent, guardian or unaccompanied youth initiates the dispute. The LEA must issue a written disposition of the dispute within 20 business days after the

liaison is notified of the dispute. The disposition is provided to the parent, guardian or unaccompanied youth to explain the basis for the decision and advise the parent, guardian or youth of the right to appeal. All LEAs must inform families of the basis of their decision regarding enrollment or school selection, notify families of their right to remain in their school of choice pending resolution of the dispute, and explain the procedures for challenging the decision of the LEA.

Level 2 – A complaint filed with a McKinney-Vento Coordinator when a parent, guardian or unaccompanied youth is dissatisfied with the LEA's disposition of a dispute or raising any issue of McKinney-Vento Act noncompliance files a complaint or appeal with a McKinney-Vento regional or site coordinator or with the state coordinator. For a list of coordinators, visit <a href="http://homeless.center-school.org">http://homeless.center-school.org</a>. The child or youth remains in the school in which he or she is seeking enrollment until the complaint or appeal is resolved or until a disposition from a McKinney-Vento coordinator is received. Any dispute raised by a homeless family or youth via telephone, letter or any mode of communication is treated as a complaint.

# National, State, Regional and Local Resources

The ECYEH regional and site coordinators can assist with:

- · School enrollment/placement
- · Agency referrals (clothing, food, shelter)
- · Tracking/transferring school records
- · Accessing educational programs
- · Interagency problem-solving
- · Relevant literature related to homelessness
- Increasing public awareness on homeless issues
- Consultative phone calls to answer school, agency and shelter questions

To identify your District Homeless Liaison visit the statewide online liaison directory at <a href="http://homeless.center-school.org/homelessdirectory">http://homeless.center-school.org/homelessdirectory</a> for a regional map and full listing of the state, regional and site coordinators, or contact your district superintendent.

Additional information and resources can be found on the regional and site webpages listed below.

**Region 1 –** School District of Philadelphia webgui.phila.k12.pa.us/offices/s/studentplacement/programs--services/homeless

**Region 2 –** Berks County Intermediate Unit www.berksiu.org/homeless www.caiu.org/resources/families/homelesschildrensinitiative.aspx www.cciu.org/page/351

**Region 3 –** Lincoln Intermediate Unit www.ecyeh.wikispaces.com

**Region 4 –** Allegheny Intermediate Unit www.aiu3.net/Level3.aspx?id=1250

**Region 5 – Midwestern Intermediate Unit** www.miu4.org/Domain/161 www.eriesd.org/domain/378 www.iu5.org/#!homeless/c22bk

**Region 6 –** ARIN Intermediate Unit www.iu28.org/Page/258

**Region 7 –** Luzerne Intermediate Unit www.liu18.org/index.php/ecyeh

**Region 8 –** Bucks County Intermediate Unit www3.bucksiu.org/homeless www.allentownsd.org/page/193

#### **Statewide Contacts**

Sheldon Winnick, State Coordinator
Pennsylvania's Education for Children and Youth
Experiencing Homelessness Program
Pennsylvania Department of Education
333 Market Street, 5th Floor
Harrisburg, PA 17126
(717) 783-6466
swinnick@pa.gov

Lynda Becker, Youth Development Coordinator Center for Schools and Communities Central Susquehanna Intermediate Unit 275 Grandview Avenue, Suite 200 Camp Hill, PA 17011 (717) 763-1661, ext. 156 lbecker@csc.csiu.org

#### **Internet Resources**

For additional information and state and national resources, you can visit any of the following websites:

Pennsylvania Department of Education ECYEH www.pde.state.pa.us/homeless

Center for Schools and Communities ECYEH http://homeless.center-school.org

Corporation for Supportive Housing www.csh.org

Handsnet www.handsnet.com/homelessness

Homelessness Resource Center www.nrchmi.samhsa.gov

Homes for the Homeless www.homesforthehomeless.com

Horizons for Homeless Children www.horizonsforhomelesschildren.org

Housing Alliance of Pennsylvania www.housingalliancepa.org

Institute for Children, Homelessness and Poverty www.icphusa.org

Legal Center on Foster Care and Education, American Bar Association www.fostercareandeducation.org

National Alliance to End Homelessness www.endhomelessness.org

National Association for the Education of Homeless Children and Youth www.naehcy.org

National Center for Homeless Education at Serve www.serve.org/nche

National Center on Family Homelessness/American Institutes for Research www.familyhomelessness.org

National Child Traumatic Stress Network www.nctsn.org

National Coalition for the Homeless www.nationalhomeless.org

National Law Center on Homelessness and Poverty www.nlchp.org National Low Income Housing Coalition www.nlihc.org

National Network 4 Youth www.nn4youth.org

U.S. Department of Education Office of Safe and Healthy Students www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/oese/oshs/aboutus.html

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Administration for Children and Families, Families and Youth Services Bureau Help for Runaway and Homeless Youth Initiative www.acf.hhs.gov/programs/fysb/programs/ runawayhomeless-youth

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Administration for Children and Families, Office of Head Start, Early Childhood Learning and Knowledge Center eclkc.ohs.acf.hhs.gov/hslc

### **Acknowledgements**

We would like to thank the multiple states that had relevant materials available online, the National Association for the Education of Homeless Children and Youth, and the National Center for Homeless Education as their resources assisted in the development of this document.